
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Graeme Auld, Ph.D., Daniela Diz, Ph.D., Alice Miller and Stefan Renckens. The Digital 
Editor is Dan Birchall. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. 
The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of 
Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry 
for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), and the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU). General Support 
for the Bulletin during 2012 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry 
of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social 
Progress Research Institute – GISPRI), and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). Funding for translation of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the 
Government of France, the Belgium Walloon Region, the Province of Québec, and the International Organization of the Francophone (OIF and IEPF). The opinions expressed in 
the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with 
appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.
org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11D, New York, NY 10022, USA. The ENB Team at the Thirteenth Meeting of the UN Open-ended Informal Consultative Process on 
Oceans and the Law of the Sea can be contacted by e-mail at <graeme@iisd.org>.

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 25 No. 87 Friday, 1 June 2012

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/oceans/icp13/

ICP-13
#4

ICP-13 HIGHLIGHTS:  
THURSDAY, 31 MAY 2012

On Thursday, the Consultative Process convened for a morning 
plenary session to discuss: a general exchange of views on 
marine renewable energies (MREs); inter-agency cooperation and 
coordination; the process for the selection of topics and panelists so 
as to facilitate the work of the General Assembly; and issues that 
could benefit from attention in future work of the General Assembly 
on oceans and the law of the sea. The plenary session ended at 
11:36 am to allow time for preparation of the Co-Chairs’ summary, 
which will be available at 10:00 am on Friday, 1 June 2012. 
PLENARY

GENERAL EXCHANGE OF VIEWS ON MARINE 
RENEWABLE ENERGIES: Co-Chair Amb. Milan Jaya 
Meetarbhan (Mauritius) opened the second plenary session for 
continued discussion on a general exchange of views on MREs. 

NORWAY described two MRE projects: offshore, floating wind 
power, specifically a new Statoil project currently generating 15 
megawatts of power; and industrial cultivation of kelp, which has 
potential as a bio-energy feedstock and as a contributor to carbon 
sequestration. 

MEXICO stressed the need for national frameworks for MREs 
that are aligned with the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea and 
that include: deployment targets; stakeholder participation; pilot 
projects; environmental impact assessments to minimize negative 
environmental effects; and trust funds to foster technologies on 
these issues. 

The INTERNATIONAL OCEAN INSTITUTE described a new 
master's program to enhance training for sustainable use of oceans, 
and a new web-based, interactive mapping platform for oceans, 
which includes considerations for MREs. 

INTER-AGENCY COOPERATION AND 
COORDINATION: Andrew Hudson, UN-Oceans, provided an 
update of the activities of UN-Oceans, noting that its tenth meeting 
will be held on 11 August 2012, in the Republic of Korea. He 
also highlighted, inter alia, that the review of UN-Oceans being 
conducted by the UN Joint Inspections Unit will be submitted to 
the 67th session of the General Assembly, and that a new terms of 
reference for UN-Oceans is expected to come from the review.

In response to CHINA’s question on the working mechanism 
of UN-Oceans, Hudson clarified that UN-Oceans is not an 
organization or agency, but only a coordination mechanism. To 
BRAZIL’s question on participation of states in the deliberations 
of UN-Oceans, he noted the role of the ICP for this purpose, 
underscoring that specific states’ participation is beyond the 
mandate of UN-Oceans. On ARGENTINA’s question on ensuring 
coherence within the UN system, he pointed to the UN-Oceans’ 
terms of reference, which requires that UN-Oceans align its work 
with the desires of the General Assembly and other processes and 
outcomes, such as Agenda 21 and the Millennium Development 
Goals. 

PROCESS FOR THE SELECTION OF TOPICS AND 
PANELISTS SO AS TO FACILITATE THE WORK OF THE 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY: Co-Chair Meetarbhan recalled the 
recommendation of the General Assembly in paragraph 228 of 

resolution 66/231 that the Consultative Process devise a transparent, 
objective and inclusive process for the selection of topics and 
panelists.

ARGENTINA commended the Co-Chairs for having tried 
to improve the methods for selecting and approving topics. She 
urged for an earlier presentation of the topics so as to improve the 
understanding on the part of the delegations of the topics prior to 
them being adopted, and prevent the too hasty adoption of topics, 
as has happened in previous years. She also stressed, as was 
already suggested in the past, that topics should be chosen from the 
perspective of sustainable development.  

ISSUES THAT COULD BENEFIT FROM ATTENTION 
IN FUTURE WORK OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY ON 
OCEANS AND THE LAW OF THE SEA: Co-Chair Meetarbhan 
referred to the composite streamlined list that has been prepared by 
the Co-Chairs on the basis of part C of the reports on the work of 
the Consultative Process from its fourth to twelfth meetings, and 
that the Co-Chairs will inform delegates of other topics that will be 
proposed during this meeting.

BRAZIL suggested, without prejudice to any other item and 
considering the upcoming review of the effectiveness and utility 
of the Consultative Process at the 67th session of the General 
Assembly, that ICP-14 examine the outcomes of the UN Conference 
on Sustainable Development (UNCSD or Rio+20). She added that, 
in particular, the topic could focus on how these outcomes impact 
or benefit international cooperation and coordination on items that 
were under the purview of UNCSD.

Denmark, for the EU, proposed, without prejudice to any other 
items and considering the General Assembly’s review, the topic of 
climate change and oceans, particularly as they relate to security 
and survival for low-lying nations and islands.
IN THE CORRIDORS

Following a brief exchange of views in the morning, discussion 
of MREs was left behind and delegates quickly moved through 
remaining agenda items. However, following the meeting, some 
delegates pointed out that while the Co-Chairs were praised for 
their balanced choice of panelists from developing and developed 
countries, the topics of the presentations themselves served as more 
of a “cheerleading exercise,” according to one participant, than 
a holistic perspective of both the potential positive and negative 
impacts of MREs. The apparent general support from delegates 
for a renewal of the ICP mandate during the discussion of future 
topics was deemed by some to be a sign that ICP is likely to live 
on. However, while uncontested during the meeting, a return to 
the topic of Rio+20 during ICP-14, and the significance of the 
conference’s outcomes for oceans, seemed to take some delegates 
by surprise and were not received with unanimous enthusiasm. A 
delegate noted that Rio+20 had already been the focus of ICP-12, 
it has divided attention of participants at ICP-13, and a focus on it 
at ICP-14 would not be forward looking. Others saw it differently. 
One delegate lamented the weak nature of the section on oceans 
in the current Rio+20 negotiating text. Another supported this, 
explaining the positives that could come from using ICP-14 as 
a forum for assessing how the likely broad outcomes of Rio+20 
can focus discussions and really advance the marine conservation 
agenda.



Interna  onal Ins  tute for Sustainable Development
Repor  ng Services (IISD RS) 

Knowledge Management Resources

IISD RS, publisher of the Earth Nego  a  ons Bulle  n, also maintains online 
knowledgebases that are updated daily with informa  on regarding mee  ngs, 
publica  ons and other ac  vi  es related to interna  onal sustainable development 
policy and its implementa  on. 

Each knowledgebase project consists of several integrated resources, to help 
the sustainable development policy and prac  ce communi  es assess trends and 
ac  vi  es at the interna  onal level. These resources are:

• Daily news reports researched and wri  en by our own experts and organized in a 
freely accessible, searchable on-line knowledgebase;
• A comprehensive calendar of upcoming events related to interna  onal sustainable 
development policy, which can be downloaded to your own online calendar;
• And a community listserve, which exclusively delivers email updates of the most 
recent addi  ons to our knowledgebases, as well as announcements by listserve 
members regarding their organiza  ons’ sustainable development ac  vi  es. 

Each knowledgebase focuses on a specifi c environmental challenge or region, as 
noted below:

Sustainable Development Policy & Prac  ce
h  p://uncsd.iisd.org/

Climate Change Policy & Prac  ce
h  p://climate-l.iisd.org/

La  n America & Caribbean Regional Coverage
h  p://larc.iisd.org/

SIDS Policy & Prac  ce
h  p://sids-l.iisd.org/

Biodiversity Policy & Prac  ce
h  p://biodiversity-l.iisd.org/

Sustainable Energy Policy & Prac  ce
h  p://energy-l.iisd.org/

African Regional Coverage
h  p://africasd.iisd.org/


